RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-19-2016 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2015AP002256-CR

vs.

JEFF C. HILGERS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT BY DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, BRANCH 1, JUDGE JOHN W. MARKSON, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT JEFF C. HILGERS

Axley Brynelson, LLP Brian C. Hough WI State Bar No. 1025056 Attorneys for Jeff C. Hilgers Defendant-Appellant

2 East Mifflin Street, Suite 200 Post Office Box 1767 Madison, WI 53701-1767 Phone: (608) 257-5661 Fax: (608) 257-5444

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

Whether the trial court erroneously instructed the jury that "participation in a home detention program" constitutes "confinement in a correctional institution" under the sexual assault statute.

Decided by the trial court: No.

Whether evidence that Mr. Hilgers was a corrections officer who had a consensual sexual relationship with a person who was home pursuant to a home detention program was sufficient to support a conviction for second degree sexual assault.

Decided by the trial court: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

<u>Oral argument is not requested</u>. The briefs are expected to fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and arguments and legal authorities on each side. Oral argument would be of marginal value.

<u>Publication is recommended</u>. This opinion will apply established rules of law to a factual situation significantly different from those in published decisions. The plain language of the statutes at issue is clear; however, interpretation of the statute has not been well-developed in the case law, and no decision directly addresses one of the issues here, which is whether "participation in a home detention program" constitutes "confinement in a correctional institution" for purposes of the sexual assault statute.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Nature of the Case.

This is an appeal of a criminal conviction. The state of Wisconsin charged Defendant-Appellant Jeff C. Hilgers ("Mr. Hilgers") with Second Degree Sexual Assault, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h), for being a corrections officer who had sex with an individual while she was allegedly "confined in a correctional institution." It is undisputed that no sexual activity occurred at an actual correctional institution. Rather, the sexual relationship was consensual and occurred at the alleged victim's home where she resided pursuant to a jail diversion program.

B. Procedural History.

On August 7, 2014, the state of Wisconsin filed a Complaint against Mr. Hilgers. (R.1.) The Complaint alleged AKC (known then as Angelia Culberson; as of July 2013, she married Jeff Hilgers and became Angelia Hilgers) was an adult confined in the Dane County jail between October, 2012, through December, 2012. (*Id.*) From 1998 through May 30, 2013, Mr. Hilgers was a member of the Dane County Jail correctional staff. (R. 65: 177). From December 10, 2012, through May 28, 2013, the Dane County Jail had released Mrs. Hilgers from the jail and placed her in a Dane County program called the "Pathfinders Diversion Program." (*Id.*, at 47.) After Mrs. Hilgers was released to her home through the jail diversion program, she and Mr. Hilgers had consensual

sex. (*Id.*, at 186.) No sexual activity occurred at the jail. (*Id.*, at 46, 179, 202.) These are the material factual allegations which were admitted throughout the proceedings.

Prior to the preliminary hearing, Mr. Hilgers filed a motion to dismiss. (R. 5.) The motion stated that \S 940.225(2)(h) requires that there be sexual activity between a correctional staff member and a person confined in a correctional institution, and that a person confined in her home is not "confined in a correctional institution." (Id.) The motion alleged that this rendered the Complaint defective, as it failed to set forth a factual basis to support the elements of the charge, contrary to rights guaranteed by the 4th, 5th, and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution; article I, sections 1, 8, and 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution; and §§ 968.01 and 968.02 of the Wisconsin Statutes. (Id.) The motion was denied prior to the preliminary hearing. (R. 9.) Defendant was bound over for trial, and the State filed an Information based on the same allegations set forth in the Complaint. (R. 12.) An arraignment was held, (R. 11,) not guilty pleas were entered, and the case was transferred to the trial court, with the Honorable John W. Markson presiding. (See R. 17.)

On December 4, 2014, Mr. Hilgers moved the court to review the decisions to not dismiss the case. (R. 15.) On January 26, 2015, the court denied the motion, (R. 24-25,) and concluded that the home, when used through a statutory Home Detention Program, is essentially an extension of the jail and could thus be

considered a "correctional facility" under § 940.225(2)(h).¹ (R. 63:11-17.) Mr. Hilgers then filed a petition for interlocutory appeal which was denied. (R. 26, 29.)

On June 15, 2015, the court held a hearing regarding the jury instructions. (R. 40,63.) The defense requested that the jury be instructed as set forth in the model jury instructions. (R. 40.) Specifically, the defense requested that the jury be instructed that the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that <u>Angelia</u><u>Hilgers</u> was confined in a correctional institution; while instructing that the <u>Dane</u><u>County Jail</u> is a correctional institution. (*Id*.)

Over the objection of the defendant, the court decided to instruct the jury that the state must prove that a person *participating in a home detention program* is confined in a correctional institution." (R. 44.)

On June 22-23, 2015, a jury trial was held. (R. 64-65.) The same material allegations set forth above were attested to. (*Id.*, at 65.) Mr. Hilgers was convicted. (*Id.*) On October 29, 2015, Mr. Hilgers filed a notice of appeal. (R. 59.) In this appeal, Mr. Hilgers argues that the jury was improperly instructed, and if it had been properly instructed, there would have been insufficient evidence to convict.

¹ For reasons unrelated to this appeal, the court dismissed Counts II-VIII of the Information which alleged Possession of Child Pornography. Those allegations are unrelated to the facts or issues in this appeal.

C. Statement of Facts.

Ms. Anglia Culberson (now known as Mrs. Hilgers, and referred to herein as Mrs. Hilgers) was convicted of Operating while Impaired, and was sentenced to the Dane County jail. (R. 65: 46.) In the Fall of 2012, she began her jail term at the Ferris Center. (*Id.*, 46.) The Ferris Center is one of three Dane County Jail locations and is a work release ("Huber") facility. (*Id.*, at 178.) This is where Mrs. Hilgers first encountered Mr. Hilgers. (*Id.*)

Mr. Hilgers worked for the Dane County Sheriff's Department at the jail as a corrections officer. (*Id.*, at 177.) He started working there in 1998. (*Id.*, at 176.) His responsibility was to supervise inmates. (*Id.*, at 177.) His job required him to rotate around the three Dane County jail locations. (*Id.*, at 178.)

From the time Mrs. Hilgers first encountered Mr. Hilgers at the Ferris Center in November 2012, (*id.*, at 178,) through her last day there, Mr. and Mrs. Hilgers had a purely professional relationship only. (*Id.*, at 46, 179, 202.) On the day Mr. Hilgers was required to rotate to another location, Mrs. Hilgers quietly left Mr. Hilgers her e-mail address. (*Id.*, at 180.) She did not see Mr. Hilgers at the jail after that. (*Id.*, at 180-81.) Mrs. Hilgers was released from the Ferris Center in December 2012. (*Id.*, at 202.) From there, she was transferred to the Pathfinders Jail Diversion Program. (*Id.*, at 47.) Through this jail diversion program, Mrs. Hilgers was placed in a halfway house. (*Id.*, at 47, 202.)

At the halfway house, Mrs. Hilgers signed two contracts with the jail diversion program. (*Id.*, at 48-49.) These contracts set forth the rules which established where Mrs. Hilgers was allowed to go. (*Id.*, at 48-53.) It is undisputed that the written rules did not expressly restrict Mrs. Hilgers to confinement in her home. (*Id.*, Exhs. 2-3.) In fact, home confinement was not even mentioned. (*Id.*) Mrs. Hilgers' range of travel was monitored by a GPS system referred to as the "ankle bracelet." The ankle bracelet would vibrate and sound an alarm if she were to travel outside area. (*Id.*, at 133.)

The jail diversion program eventually authorized Mrs. Hilgers to get her own apartment, (R. 54, 203.) At that point, Mrs. Hilgers and Mr. Hilgers had still only communicated via e-mail, as they continued to await the date that Mrs. Hilgers was supposed to have her ankle bracelet removed, which had been scheduled for April 18, 2013. (*Id.*, at 183.) That was when the two were hoping to go out together on a first date. (*Id.*) It turned out to be a miscalculation. (*Id.*, at 184.) Devastated, Mrs. Hilgers discussed this with Mr. Hilgers. (*Id.*, at 59,184.) The two decided to proceed with their date anyway and met for coffee. (*Id.*) Within weeks, the sexual relationship began. (*Id.*, at 185-86.) Mr. Hilgers and Mrs. Hilgers had numerous consensual sexual encounters, all at Mrs. Hilgers' home while she was on the bracelet. (*Id.*, at 186.)

At one point, Mrs. Hilgers decided to move in with Mr. Hilgers. (*Id.*, at 187-88.) To do so, she needed to transfer her "alcohol sobrietor" to Mr. Hilgers'

house.² (*Id.*, at 210-11.) That required her to notify the Wisconsin Department of Corrections of her new residence, any other residents, and their occupations. (*Id.*, at 188.) In doing so, she revealed that she would be living with Mr. Hilgers, a correctional officer. (*Id.*) This triggered an investigation. (*Id.*)

When investigated, Mrs. Hilgers acknowledged having a consensual sexual relationship with Mr. Hilgers at her house while on the bracelet. (*Id.*, at 213.) Mrs. Hilgers was immediately removed from the Pathfinders jail diversion program and returned to the jail to serve the remainder of her sentence. (*Id.*, at 66, 213-14.) Mr. Hilgers was suspended from employment. (*Id.*, at 188.) On June 29, 2013, Mr. Hilgers and Mrs. Hilgers married. (*Id.*, at 214.) The following year, the present case was brought against Mr. Hilgers, accusing him of sexually assaulting Mrs. Hilgers, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h). (R. 1.)

ARGUMENT

The evidence was undisputed that Mr. Hilgers only had sex with Mrs. Hilgers at her house while she was home on a jail diversion program. A person at home on a jail diversion program has the unique status of being a jail prisoner who is <u>not</u> confined in a correctional institution. This is a circumstance which the plain language of the sexual assault statute simply does not cover. The trial court, however, instructed the jury that "confinement in a correctional institution" could be established by "participation in a home detention program"

 $^{^{2}}$ This is a device that measures breath alcohol level which Mrs. Hilgers was required to blow into regularly as a condition of her release from jail.

without any evidence that Mrs. Hilgers was in an actual jail or correctional facility at the time. For the reasons which follow, based on the plain language of the applicable statutes, the Court of Appeals should find that the court's instructions to the jury were erroneous. And, applying the correct legal standard, the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction because Mr. and Mrs. Hilgers never engaged in any sexual activity in a correctional institution. Based on the erroneous instruction and the insufficient evidence, the conviction must be vacated.

I. Under the plain language of the sexual assault statute, the jury instructions were erroneous.

The trial court erroneously instructed the jury that "participation in a home detention program constitutes confinement in a correctional institution," because under the plain language of the statute, proof that a correctional officer had sex with an individual actually confined in a correctional institution was required, and Mrs. Hilgers was not confined in a correctional institution when she and Mr. Hilgers had sex at her home.

A. Standard of Review.

A sufficiency of the evidence review in this case requires a threshold determination of whether the jury instructions correctly stated the statutory requirements for conviction of the crime. *See State v. Beamon*, 2013 WI 47, ¶ 18, 347 Wis. 2d 559, 570-71. Jury instructions that do not accurately state the statutory requirements for the crime charged constitute erroneous statements of

law. *State v. Ferguson*, 2009 WI 50, ¶ 44, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187. Erroneous statements of law are reviewed independently of the circuit court, benefiting from its analysis. *See State v. Fonte*, 2005 WI 77, ¶ 9, 281 Wis. 2d 654, 698 N.W.2d 594. If the Court of Appeals determines that a jury instruction erroneously stated the applicable statute, it must then determine whether, under the totality of the circumstances, the erroneous instruction constituted harmless error. *See State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶¶ 46-47, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

B. The Court must interpret the sexual assault statute based on its plain language and the language of related statutes.

The instruction that "participation in a home detention program constitutes confinement in a correctional institution" is inconsistent with the plain language of the statute and the pattern jury instructions. To analyze the instructions, the Court must interpret the applicable statute. Statutory interpretation begins with the statutory language. If the meaning of the statute is plain, the inquiry ordinarily stops. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty. (In re Criminal Complaint),* 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 663-64 (citations omitted). Statutory language must be given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning. *Id.* (citations omitted.) "Statutory language is read where possible to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage... In construing or interpreting a statute the court is not at liberty to disregard the plain, clear words of the statute." *Id.* (citations omitted.)

Statutes are interpreted to fulfill the objectives of the statute, and to avoid absurd results. *State v. Popenhagen*, 2008 WI 55, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 621.

1. Nothing within the plain language of the statutes which define correctional institutions, jails, or correctional facilities defines homes or home detention programs as correctional institutions.

Homes and home detention programs are not correctional institutions. It is

only a second degree sexual assault if a corrections officer has sexual contact or

intercourse with an individual who is "confined in a correctional institution."³ The

statute defines "correctional institution" in unambiguous terms: A jail or

correctional facility, a juvenile correctional facility, or a juvenile detention facility.

§ 940.225(5)(acm). A "jail or correctional facility" is defined to mean:

- (a) A Type 1 prison, as defined in s. 301.01 (5).
- (b) A jail, as defined in s. 302.30.
- (c) A house of correction.
- (d) A Huber facility under s. 303.09.
- (e) A lockup facility, as defined in s. 302.30.
- (f) A work camp under s. 303.10.

§ 961.01(12m).

Jails are further defined further by § 302.30 to include "municipal prisons"

and "rehabilitation facilities." § 302.30. None of the statutory definitions of

Wis. Stats. § 940.225(2)(h).

³ (2) SECOND DEGREE SEXUAL ASSAULT. Whoever does any of the following is guilty of a Class C felony:

⁽h) Has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with an individual who is confined in a correctional institution if the actor is a correctional staff member. This paragraph does not apply if the individual with whom the actor has sexual contact or sexual intercourse is subject to prosecution for the sexual contact or sexual intercourse under this section.

correctional institutions, jails, or correctional facilities, or other referenced facilities, make any reference to homes or home detention programs. They are not correctional institutions.

2. A person on a home detention program is a jail prisoner who is not confined in a jail; she is confined to her home.

As set forth in § 302.425, people in statutory home detention programs have the legal status of jail prisoners, but their "place of detention [the home] is not subject to requirements for jails." § 302.425(5)(a). Furthermore, just like the other jail and correctional facility statutes, the home detention program statute's definition of "jail" does not include the home or a home detention program. § 302.425. Instead, it defines jail as a house of correction, a work camp under § 303.10 and a Huber facility under § 303.09. § 302.425(1)(b).

With there being a statute defining home detention program which states that the place of home detention is "not subject to the requirements for jails," and with there being nothing in the plain language of any statute which provides that a home or home detention program is a statutory "correctional institution," the state crafted a proposed instruction that completely removed the person's place of confinement from the analysis.

The state persuaded the trial court to allow the jury to convict based on the person's status as opposed to the person's place of confinement. This is why the

jury instruction was worded oddly: "Participation in a home detention program constitutes confinement in a correctional institution."

This was erroneous. Participation in a program is not confinement in a place. This is linguistic wrangling to make a square peg fit in a round hole. The plain language of the statute governs, and it requires that the person actually be confined in a correctional institution. The "confined in" language is mandatory, and cannot be replaced with different language which shifts the focus from confinement place to confinement status.

Under the plain, common understanding of sex "with a person confined in a correctional institution," the sex must occur while the person is confined *in* the institution. The court cannot remove the word "in," with its emphasis on place, to make the facts fit the crime. Merriam-Webster Dictionary defines "in" as a "word to indicate inclusion, location, or position within limits "in the lake," "wounded in the leg," "in the summer." *Merriam-Webster.com*. Merriam-Webster, n.d. Web. 18 Jan. 2016. .

Jail prisoners are often "in" places that are not correctional institutions. The fact that a person has the status of jail prisoner is insufficient to demonstrate that the person is presently confined in a correctional institution. For example, a person may be confined in a Huber facility, but from there, he could be released for work. When released to work, he cannot logically be considered "confined in" the Huber facility, because he has left that facility. The person would remain a jail prisoner, in the custody of the jail, and would perhaps be "confined by" the jail, but while at work, he cannot be considered "confined *in*" the Huber facility. That would be absurd.⁴

If the legislature wanted the sexual assault statute to cover sex between a correctional officer and any jail prisoner regardless of the prisoner's location, it could have very easily said so. It didn't. It said the opposite: The statute proscribes sex between a correctional officer and an individual "confined in a correctional institution." § 940.225(2)(h). A person in the home detention program is considered "detained at [her] place of residence." § 302.425(3)." Confinement in a residence and confinement in a correctional institution are two different types of confinement.

The court's construction of the statute rendered the phrase "confined in" superfluous, and in essence replaced it with "in the custody of." This was error. Courts must construe statutes according to their plain meaning in a manner that avoids rendering any of the statutory language superfluous. *Robin K. v. Lamanda* M., 2006 WI 68, ¶ 16, 291 Wis. 2d 333, 718 N.W.2d 38.

The plain language of the statute is clear. The Court should not look any further than its plain words. Mrs. Hilgers was not confined in a correctional institution. She was confined in her home. A home is not a correctional

⁴ With proper arrangements, a Huber inmate could be anywhere: in the classroom of a school or university, at any place of business, working on the farm, riding in someone's car or in some form of public transportation, shopping at the grocery store, at church, visiting a health care professional, in a courthouse, or *en route* to any combination of these places. But being somewhere other than the facility means that the person is not confined in the facility at that time.

institution. The home detention program is not a correctional institution. The plain words of the statute simply do not fit the facts. The statute cannot be reconfigured through creative jury instructions to make it fit.

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