# RECEIVED

# STATE OF WISCONSIN **04-15-2016**

## COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2015AP2256-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEFF C. HILGERS,

Defendant-Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JOHN W. MARKSON, PRESIDING

# **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1740 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) oneilar@doj.state.wi.us

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As Respondent, the State exercises its option not to include separate statements of the case and facts. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a)2. Relevant information will be included where appropriate in the State's argument.

#### ARGUMENT

Defendant-appellant Jeff C. Hilgers appeals a judgment convicting him of one count of second-degree sexual assault by a correctional institution staff member. (54.) *See* Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h). A jury convicted Hilgers of this crime for having sexual intercourse with Jane<sup>1</sup> at her apartment while she was participating in Dane County's Pathfinders Jail Diversion Program. Hilgers was a Dane County Sheriff's Department Deputy, and had met Jane while she was confined at the Dane County Jail.

On appeal, Hilgers argues that he could not have been convicted of this crime because Jane was not confined in a correctional institution when they had sexual intercourse. (Hilgers's br. 10-16.) Instead, he argues, at best she was participating in a home detention program under Wis. Stat. § 302.425, which does not meet the statutory definition of a correctional institution. (Hilgers's br. 10-16.) Similarly, Hilgers contends that the jury instruction for the crime was erroneous and that the evidence was insufficient to allow the jury to find him guilty. (Hilgers's br. 10-20.) He also argues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State will identify the victim by a pseudonym in this brief. See Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.86(4).

that Pathfinders did not qualify as a home detention program. (Hilgers's br. 19-20.)

This Court should affirm. The relevant statutes establish that a home detention program is a correctional institution under Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h). The circuit court thus properly instructed the jury and the evidence was sufficient to allow the jury to find that Jane was confined in a correctional institution. Further, because the State introduced sufficient evidence that allowed the jury to conclude that Pathfinders was a home detention program, there was sufficient evidence to convict Hilgers of sexual assault by a correctional staff member.

I. Under the plain language of the relevant statutes, a home detention program under Wis. Stat. § 302.425 is a correctional institution for the purposes of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h).

# A. Law governing statutory construction and standard of review.

Hilgers challenges both the sufficiency of the evidence and the court's instruction to the jury that participation in a home detention program constitutes confinement in a correctional institution. (Hilgers's br. 10-16; 65:246.) As he recognizes, resolution of these claims is ultimately a matter of statutory construction, a question of law that this court reviews de novo. *State v. Hemp*, 2014 WI 129, 359 Wis. 2d 320, ¶ 12, 856 N.W.2d 811.

Statutory construction beings with the statute's language, and if the language is unambiguous, a court applies the plain language to the facts of the case. See *id*. ¶ 13. Statutory language is examined in the context it is used. *Id*. Language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, though technical or specifically defined

words are given their technical or defined meanings. *State v. Hanson*, 2012 WI 4, ¶ 16, 338 Wis. 2d 243, 808 N.W.2d 390.

Further, "words are given meaning to avoid absurd, unreasonable, or implausible results and results that are clearly at odds with the legislature's purpose." *Hemp*, 359 Wis. 2d 320, ¶ 13 (quoting *State v. Matasek*, 2014 WI 27, ¶ 12, 353 Wis. 2d 601, 846 N.W.2d 811). Courts favor an interpretation that fulfills the statute's purpose. *Hanson*, 338 Wis.2d 243, ¶ 17. Context and purpose are important in discerning the plain meaning of the statute. *Id*.

# B. The applicable statutes unambiguously establish that a person participating in a home detention program is a person confined in a correctional institution.

This Court should conclude that the trial court correctly determined that a person placed in a home detention program under Wis. Stat. § 302.425 is an "individual who is confined in a correctional institution" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h).

### 1. Relevant statutes.

Several statutes are involved in resolving this matter. To begin, Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h), which defines the crime the jury convicted Hilgers of, states:

#### 940.225 Sexual assault.

. . . .

(2) SECOND DEGREE SEXUAL ASSAULT. Whoever does any of the following is guilty of a Class C felony:

. . . .

(h) Has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with an individual who is confined in a correctional institution if the

actor is a correctional staff member. This paragraph does not apply if the individual with whom the actor has sexual contact or sexual intercourse is subject to prosecution for the sexual contact or sexual intercourse under this section.

"Correctional institution" is defined in Wis. Stat. § 940.225(5)(acm) as "a jail or correctional facility, as defined in s. 961.01(12m), a juvenile correctional facility, as defined in s. 938.02(10p), or a juvenile detention facility, as defined in 938.02(10r)."

Wis. Stat. § 961.01(12m) defines "jail or correctional facility." It states:

**961.01 Definitions.** As used in this chapter:

. . . .

(12m) "Jail or correctional facility" means any of the following:

(a) A Type 1 prison, as defined in s. 301.01 (5).

**(b)** A jail, as defined in s. 302.30.

(c) A house of correction.

(d) A Huber facility under s. 303.09.

(e) A lockup facility, as defined in s. 302.30.

(f) A work camp under s. 303.10.

Wisconsin Stat. § 302.30 defines jail:

**302.30 Definition of jail.** In ss. 302.30 to 302.43, "jail" includes municipal prisons and rehabilitation facilities established under s. 59.53 (8) by whatever name they are known. In s. 302.37 (1) (a) and (3) (a), "jail" does not include lockup facilities. "Lockup facilities" means those facilities of a temporary place of detention at a police station which are used exclusively to hold persons under arrest until they can be brought before a court, and are not used to hold persons pending trial who have appeared in

court or have been committed to imprisonment for nonpayment of fines or forfeitures. In s. 302.365, "jail" does not include rehabilitation facilities established under s. 59.53 (8).

And finally, Wis. Stat. § 302.425, which governs home detention programs, states in relevant part:

#### **302.425 Home detention programs.**

. . . .

(2) SHERIFF'S OR SUPERINTENDENT'S GENERAL AUTHORITY. Subject to the limitations under sub. (3), a county sheriff or a superintendent of a house of correction may place in the home detention program any person confined in jail. The sheriff or superintendent may transfer any prisoner in the home detention program to the jail.

. . . .

(3) PLACEMENT OF A PRISONER IN THE PROGRAM. The sheriff or superintendent may, if he or she determines that the home detention program is appropriate for a prisoner, place the prisoner in the home detention program and provide that the prisoner be detained at the prisoner's place of residence or other place designated by the sheriff or superintendent and be monitored by an active electronic monitoring system. The sheriff or superintendent shall establish reasonable terms of detention and ensure that the prisoner is provided a written statement of those terms, including a description of the detention monitoring procedures and requirements and of any applicable liability issues. The terms may include a requirement that the prisoner pay the county a daily fee to cover the county costs associated with monitoring him or her. The county may obtain payment under this subsection or s. 302.372, but may not collect for the same expenses twice.

• • • •

#### **(5)** STATUS.

(a) Except as provided in par. (b), a prisoner in the home detention program is considered to be a jail prisoner but the

place of detention is not subject to requirements for jails under this chapter.

(b) Sections 302.36, 302.37 and 302.375 do not apply to prisoners in the home detention program.

(6) ESCAPE. Any intentional failure of a prisoner to remain within the limits of his or her detention or to return to his or her place of detention, as specified in the terms of detention under sub. (3), is considered an escape under s. 946.42 (3) (a).

# 2. A person participating in a home detention program is effectively confined in the jail, and thus, in a correctional institution.

The plain meaning of these statutes shows that a person participating in a home detention program is confined in a correctional institution for the purposes of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h). As applied to Jane, she was confined in the Dane County Jail, which is unquestionably a correctional institution, when she was participating in the Pathfinders program.

Initially, Jane was "confined" at her apartment within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h). The circuit court ordered Jane to serve a jail term as a condition of her probation after her conviction on an operating while intoxicated charge. (46:Ex. 9; 65:45-46.) The Dane County Sheriff placed Jane on home detention, letting her serve her jail term at her apartment rather than in the jail. Under Wis. Stat. § 302.425(3), Jane was "detained at [her] place of residence." The meaning of "detained" for the purposes of § 302.425 appears to be largely synonymous with the meaning of "confined" under Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h). Both words describe persons whose freedom of movement is restricted as a result of their involvement in the criminal justice system. And the dictionary definitions of the words are very similar. One definition of "confine" is "imprison." A definition of detain is "to hold or keep in or as if in custody." See Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary, 261, 340 (11th ed. 2012). Jane's detention at her apartment was thus also confinement there.

Jane's "correctional Further. apartment was а institution" under Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h). While on home detention, she was considered a jail prisoner. Wis. Stat. § 302.425(5)(a). Thus, at least constructively, Jane remained in jail while she participated in the program. Jane also remained in the sheriff's custody while on home detention. The sheriff has a statutory duty to take charge and custody of the county jail and the persons in it, and to "keep the persons in the jail personally or by a deputy or jailer." Wis. Stat. § 59.27(1). The Legislature has also given the sheriff the ability to place people in the jail on home detention under § 302.425. Jane's placement in the program was at the sheriff's discretion upon the sheriff's determination that the program was appropriate for her. See Wis. Stat. § 302.425(3). This authority is part of the sheriff's exclusive responsibility to run the jail, and is something a circuit court cannot interfere with. See State v. Schell, 2003 WI App 78, ¶¶ 14-19, 261 Wis. 2d 841, 661 N.W.2d 503. Because persons on home detention are jail prisoners and are placed in the program pursuant to the sheriff's authority to run the jail, the person's place of detention while in the program should be considered the county jail. A jail is a correctional institution for the purposes of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h). See Wis. Stat. \$\$ 940.225(5)(acm), 961.01(12m)(b).

Jane's participation in the program also amounts to confinement in a correctional institution because she was subject to an escape charge under Wis. Stat. § 946.42 if she failed to remain within the physical limits of her detention or to return to her place of detention as required by the program's rules. *See* Wis. Stat. § 302.425(6). Had Jane been placed in the program before her conviction, she would have been entitled to sentence credit for her time spent in the program. See State v. Magnuson, 2000 WI 19, ¶ 25, 233 Wis. 2d 40, 606 N.W.2d 536 (a person is in custody under sentence credit statute if she is subject to an escape charge for leaving her status).<sup>2</sup> Sentence credit is given to persons who have "spent time in custody" in connection with the course of conduct they are sentenced for. Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a). Custody includes, without limitation, "confinement related to an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced." Id. (emphasis added). Jane was confined while she was participating in the home detention program.

Finally, a reading of "confined in a correctional institution" to include a person participating in the home detention program is consistent with the Legislature's purpose in enacting Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h). Correctional institution staff members have a tremendous amount of power over the persons they supervise. Section 940.225(2)(h) seeks to prevent abuses of that power by making any sexual contact or intercourse between the staff and inmates a serious crime. *See* Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2).

Similarly, intimate relationships between staff and those confined could result in unfair preferential treatment being given to prisoners by institution employees. Such activity could also create security threats, with employees being enticed to bring contraband to their charges or look the other way when they engage in misconduct, either out of affection

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Magnuson overruled State v. Swadley, 190 Wis. 2d 139, 526 N.W.2d 778 (Ct. App. 1994), which had held that sentence credit was not available for time spent in the home detention program. Magnuson, 233 Wis. 2d 40, ¶ 31 n.7.

or because of a threat by the inmate to expose the relationship.

And these concerns were present here even though Hilgers was not directly supervising Jane while she was on home detention. Home detention participants still interact with jail employees, particularly the ones who are responsible for ensuring compliance with the program's rules. For example, Jane had to agree to allow any person from the sheriff's department into her residence. (46:Exs. 2, 3.) Further, because the sheriff has unlimited discretion to return persons to the jail from the home detention program, it is always possible that an institution employee who had sex with someone in the program will end up supervising the person later on. Wis. Stat. § 302.425(2). Construing the statute to prohibit sexual relationships between correctional institution staff and those on home detention is consistent with the Legislature's purpose in creating Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h).

# 3. Hilgers has not demonstrated that Jane was not confined in a correctional institution.

Hilgers makes several arguments why Jane was not confined in a correctional institution and Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h) thus does not apply to him, but none are persuasive.

Hilgers points to Wis. Stat. § 302.425(5)(a)'s language that the place of home detention is not subject to Chapter 302's requirements for jails. (Hilgers's br. 11.) This does not mean that Jane was not confined in a correctional institution. Rather, the language is necessary to make the home detention program possible. People on home detention are considered jail prisoners, but if the places they were confined had to meet all the requirements of jails, the program could not work. No private residence would comply with Chapter 302.

In fact, this language, along with that of Wis. Stat. § 302.425(5)(b), demonstrates that the Legislature intended that residences be considered jails for the purposes of the home detention program. Section 302.425(5)(b) provides that statutes governing prisoner classification systems, health and safety standards for jails, and conduct in jails do not apply to prisoners on home detention. That the Legislature found it necessary to exempt the home detention program from some statutory requirements for jails shows that it otherwise thought that the places of detention for persons in the program were jails. If there were no question that these places were not jails, there would be no reason to exempt them.

Next, Hilgers argues that Wis. Stat. § 302.425(1)(b) does not include a home or a home detention program in its definition of jail. (Hilgers's br. 11.) Instead, he notes, the definition is limited to a house of correction, a work camp, or a Huber facility. (*Id.*) Hilgers ignores that these three examples are preceded by "includes," and the definition, which does not even include a traditional county jail, is meant to expand the types of custody from which the sheriff can release a person to home detention. This statute does not prove that Jane was not confined in a correctional institution for the purposes of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(h).

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